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Summary

1.1.1 The Eckland Bridge Umbrella Works were constructed on the site of a former paper mill in 1866.  The site was originally owned by local steelmaker Samuel Fox, but was subsequently taken over by Hoyland and Hayward in 1875.  Hoyland became the sole proprietor in 1880, at which point he purchased Burkes House as an onsite residence.  The site developed throughout the late 19th and 20th centuries, evidenced by both the surviving fabric and cartographic documents.  The works were originally water-powered, but later converted to steam and finally to electricity.  A fire in the 1980s led to the loss of many historic structures, and the subsequent erection of modern corrugated steel buildings.  The present site includes the historic umbrella works to the south, and Burkes House and a range of farm buildings to the north.

1.1.2 The works have been recorded in agreement with the South Yorkshire Archaeological Service. This report has concluded that buildings L, M and K4 represent the earliest factory buildings on site, with the remaining structures added during subsequent construction phases  

1.1.3 It was evident that the continued use of the buildings on site had led to extensive internal and external alteration and the Eckland Bridge Works form a much-altered example of a late 19th and early 20th century industrial works.  The site’s significance lies in its links with the early developments of umbrella manufacture, and with such local figures as Samuel Fox and William Hoyland.  However, the historic integrity of the site was compromised by a fire in the 1980s.  

Introduction and Scope of Document

1.2 Introduction

1.2.1 This document reports on the historic building recording of Eckland Bridge Works, Manchester Road, Millhouse Green, Sheffield.  This work has been undertaken by Scott Wilson on behalf of CALA Homes (Yorkshire).  It has been researched and prepared by Sanne Roberts (Graduate Built Heritage Consultant).  Fieldwork was carried out on 5th and 6th February 2007 by members of the Scott Wilson Heritage Team.

1.2.2 The proposed development site, of which Eckland Bridge Works forms part, is situated to the immediate south east of Millhouse Green, centred at NGR SE 2220 0310 (Figure 1).  The village of Thurlstone is situated c. 1km to the east.  The site is irregular in shape, bounded by the River Don to the south and east, the A628 to the north, and Birks Lane to the west.

1.3 Aims and Objectives

1.3.1 This historic building survey and assessment has been undertaken in agreement with the South Yorkshire Archaeological Service.  The aim of the survey was to record the buildings prior to demolition, and specifically:
· To provide a Level 2 photographic survey of the structures, consisting of general and detailed photographs;

· To undertake a review and examination of historical, cartographic and photographic sources for the building in order to establish its historic development; and

· To document the results of this fieldwork as an ordered archive and published account.

1.3.2 The need for this research was identified within an Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment recently undertaken on the proposed development site (NAA 2005).  It was recommended that a photographic survey should be undertaken of the buildings before their demolition.  This survey was specified to be an English Heritage Level 2 recording, complying to those levels set out in Understanding Historic Buildings – A guide to good recording practice (English Heritage 2006).  

1.3.3 This report presents the results of the research and photographic survey undertaken by Scott Wilson and is submitted to preserve by record the historic interest of the buildings.

1.4 Methodology

1.4.1 A general photographic survey of Eckland Bridge Works was undertaken using a 35mm camera to produce both colour and black and white photography.  Both internal and external photography was undertaken, with additional general views of the structure within its wider context; however, some areas were inaccessible on the grounds of health and safety.  Surviving decorative finishes, fittings and fixtures were recorded, alongside any visible constructional and architectural details.
1.4.2 Written notes were made on site to inform the descriptive and interpretative record of the building.  Documentary and cartographic research was undertaken at Sheffield Local Studies Library, Sheffield Archives and Barnsley Local Studies Library and Archives, however few primary sources relating to the site appear to survive.

Historical Background 

1.5 The Historic Development of Millhouse Green

1.5.1 The first evidence for settlement in the Millhouse Green area is found in the Domesday Survey, c.1086.  Although no settlement is recorded at Millhouse Green itself, the neighbouring township of Thurlstone is recorded, becoming a local centre for woollen production during the medieval period (Dransfield 1906; Smith 1961; Wood 1965).  

1.5.2 The surrounding area was largely agricultural throughout both the medieval and post-medieval periods.  The medieval manor of Bullhouse Hall was located c. 1km west of Eckland Bridge Works.  It was acquired by the Rich family in 1486, by which time a mill was already established on the estate (Hey 2002, 50). The mill initially operated as a fulling mill, but was converted to wire manufacture in 1865 (Hey 2002, 50).  It is from this mill that Millhouse Green acquired its name.

1.5.3 The area became increasingly industrialised in the post-medieval period.  The River Don was heavily exploited in the Millhouse Green and Thurlstone area.  Water-powered mills were constructed to undertake a wide variety of processes.  The basic form of the mills was extremely versatile, allowing conversion and adaptation for use by numerous different industries (NAA 2006, 3).  

1.5.4 Throughout the following centuries industrialisation continued at an increasingly rapid rate.  The Sheffield, Ashton under Lyne and Manchester Railway was opened in 1845, running to the south of Millhouse Green (NAA 2005, 9). The construction of this, and the improved trade links it presented, provided a huge boost to industry in the Don Valley.  The railway closed in 1970, and the track was lifted.

1.6 Eckland Bridge Works

1.6.1 The earliest building recorded on the Eckland Bridge Works site was established in the 18th century as a paper mill.  Referred to as Thurlstone Paper Mill, Moor Hallis, Moorhollows or Moorhall, it is first mentioned in the 1748 London Gazette, which states that it was previously owned by Thomas Martin.  In 1755, Thomas Martin’s Paper Mill was noted for flexible waste, pounded for boards and wrapping paper at Moor Hallis by the Don.  It is likely wrapping paper was produced for use by the local textile industry (NAA 2006, 3).  

1.6.2 [image: image8.jpg]


Thomas Jeffrey’s 1767-71 map of the County of York refers to the mill as ‘Moorhollows’ and shows the mill with an associated leat (Plate 1).  A similar arrangement is shown in Greenwood’s 1815-17 map, but in greater detail.  Whilst in 1767 Manchester Road is shown only in outline to the west of the site, by 1815 the modern road layout is apparent.  The mill itself is depicted to the south of ‘Paper House’.  The site was recorded as a paper mill until at least 1837, when George Brown was listed at the premises (Papermaker’s Directory).

1.6.3 The 1854 Ordnance Survey (OS) map describes the site as ‘Old Paper Mill’ and ‘Ruin’ (Figure 2).  This suggests that, by this time, the site had been out of use for some time.  The properties of Rocher and Rocher Top are already present to the east of the site, and remain in a similar position throughout the following century.  

1.6.4 The Paper Mill site was put up for sale by Jonathan Swinden in 1860.  At this time the site comprised both farm and redundant mill structures.  It was purchased in 1866 by Samuel Fox, a local steel manufacturer and umbrella maker.  Fox founded the English Steels Company and in 1852 patented a design for steel ribbed umbrellas known as the ‘paragon rib’ (Stansfield n.d., 7).

1.6.5 In 1875 operations were taken over by William Hoyland and Joseph Hayward through an agreement with Fox.  This agreement included that all raw materials needed to be bought from Fox’s steel company (Stansfield n.d., 12).  Hoyland and Hayward established production of a new design for a self-folding umbrella known as the ‘Flexus’, patented in 1877.  Hoyland became the sole proprietor in 1880 and purchased Burkes House as an onsite residence at this time (Nicholson 2001, 37-40).  The 1881 census records William Hoyland, umbrella frame manufacturer, and his family of six children at the site.  One man and eight teenage girls were employed as umbrella makers, with a further two men described in the census as an umbrella rib hardener and umbrella trade toolmaker (Hey 2002, 150).

1.6.6 Successive Ordnance Survey (OS) maps record the development of the site.  An L-shaped range is evident on the 1893 map (Figure 3) in a similar position to ‘Paper House’ on the 1854 map.  Burkes House has also been constructed to the northeast by this time.  Eckland Bridge Works is situated to the southeast, to the immediate northeast of the position of the former mill, utilising the earlier paper mill leat.  The main works comprises a T-shaped building, with further structures located to the south and west to form a small yard.  A short terrace of six houses is present on the corner of Manchester Road and Burkes Lane.  This was built by Hoyland as workers’ housing, and lies outside the development site.

1.6.7 A further wing is evident to the south of the L-shaped building on the 1906 map (Figure 4).  Further structures are present to the southeast of this and to the north of Burkes House.  Various accretions are evident on the Eckland Bridge Works, most notably to the southwest of the complex, and a reservoir is present to the northeast.  The workers’ housing has been extended to comprise two terraces and a total of twelve residences with toilet blocks present in the shared backyards.

1.6.8 The umbrella works continued to expand throughout the 20th century, providing much employment for the local community.  A sizeable increase in scale is evident on the 1931 OS map (Figure 5) and by this time steam power was supplementing the earlier waterwheel.  Multiple freestanding structures have been added to the northeast of Eckland Bridge Works, with a further substantial extension to the northwest.  A further reservoir is present to the southwest of the complex, fed from the original mill leat.  Another building is also evident to the west of the now U-shaped farm complex.  

1.6.9 The 1959 OS map (Figure 6) shows two main additions; one irregularly-shaped building to the west of the reservoir, and another T-shaped structure to the south of the farm complex.  A similar arrangement is still evident on the 1968 OS map (Figure 7). The main alteration during this decade was made to the southwest corner of the main Eckland Bridge Works building.  The processes undertaken on site were still at this point relatively unmechanised, with, for example, wire frames still straightened by hand (Hey 2002, 151).  

1.6.10 The main works building was gutted by fire in the 1980s and replaced with modern factory units.  It was also at this time that the large industrial water wheel, still fed by the original mill leat, was finally removed, reflecting the modernisation of the production process at the site.  Two aerial photographs survive of the site with the main building shown still intact (Plates 2 and 3).  They depict it as a two-storey building with ridged roof and Italianate dressings. Two stair turrets are shown, located at the southeast corner and centrally along the east wall.  A chimney is clearly visible in association with a structure to the south of the reservoir, to the east of the site.  This suggests that a steam engine was located in these buildings. 

1.6.11 In 1987, William Hoyland Limited was sold to Readicut International. The original companies of Fox and Hoyland amalgamated to create Hoyland Fox a year later (Nicholson 2001, 41).  Hoyland Fox are presently in the process of vacating the premises.  
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Plates 2 and 3: Aerial Photographs of the site before the 1980s fire.  Plate 3 also shows the terraces of workers cottages in the background, but Millhouse Green is for the rest mostly undeveloped. 

2 Fieldwork Results

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 The Millhouse Green site comprises two distinct complexes of historic buildings.

2.1.2 The farm buildings A-F are located to the west of the site and form a U-shaped range of outbuildings (Figure 8).  These one- and two-storey structures are all stone-built with slate and stone slate roofs.  They date from the late 18th or early 19th centuries.

2.1.3 The historic umbrella factory buildings (Eckland Bridge Works, H –O, Figure 8) are located to the south of the site and date from the late 19th and early 20th centuries.  The structures vary between one and three storeys in height and are of varied form.  The three-storey residential building of Burke’s House (G), located to the north of the site, also forms part of this complex.  

2.2 Farm Buildings (A to F)

2.2.1 Buildings A to E form a U-shaped range of farm buildings.  Building F is located to the immediate southeast.  All are built of coursed sandstone with pitched stone slate roofs, unless otherwise stated.  

Buildings A and B

 External Description

2.2.2 Buildings A and B are located within the northern wing, aligned approximately east-west.  They form a single-storey structure with large sandstone quoins.  The north and east walls are featureless.  That to the south is rendered and contains two doors within timber frames and central square overlights.  That to the east leads into Building A; that to the west provides access to Building B.  

Internal Description

2.2.3 Building A forms a single room, with a concrete floor and open to the roof revealing a simple common rafter design.  There is a blocked doorway at a raised level in the west wall, leading into Building B.  Building B forms a similar, single internal room.  Its roof structure is concealed behind canted timber-boarding.  Alongside the blocked door to Building A, there is a further door at ground-floor level in the west wall, providing access to Building C.  This has a timber frame but has been subsequently blocked with bricks.  A timber beam extends through the full length of the room from east to west.  

Building C

External Description

2.2.4 [image: image9.jpg]


Immediately to the west of Building B is Building C (Plate 4), which also forms part of the northern wing.  This is contemporary with Buildings A and B, but is of two storeys.  There are two windows at first-floor level in the north wall.  These have monolithic sandstone lintels and sills, and have later been infilled with concrete blocks.  A single course of airbricks is also apparent below the roofline, providing additional ventilation.  The south elevation contains two doorways at ground-floor level.  These have simple sandstone surrounds and retain their original timber stable-doors.  Both doors are flanked to the west by a square-headed casement window with sandstone lintel and projecting sandstone sill.  Two smaller windows with similar sills and lintels are located at first-floor level.  These contain a later concrete block infill.  Projecting square-section corbels to support a gutter survive below the roofline.

Internal Description

2.2.5 Building C forms a single space at ground-floor level, with a wooden floor above.  The floor cuts across both windows in the west wall, and thus appears to be a later insertion.  Access to the first floor was not possible.  The floor surface consists of stone setts with a partial concrete skim.  Iron bars running north-south within the floor mark the position of stall dividers suggesting this building has been used as stabling.  A narrow timber plank door provides access to building D.

Building D

External Description

2.2.6 Building D forms the main range of the farm buildings and is aligned north-south.  It is recessed slightly from Building C, but appears to be of the same build.  Both buildings first appear on the 1893 OS map, suggesting a late 19th century construction date.

2.2.7 [image: image10.jpg]


Building D was constructed in three main phases, seen most clearly on the west wall (Plate 5).  The northern half forms the earliest section; its original extent delimited to the south by large quoins.  This portion contains a wide, low doorway with large monolithic sandstone lintel and posts.  This is flanked to the south by two irregularly inserted windows with sandstone lintels.  All three openings have been blocked with coursed stonework.  A slight difference in stonework is evident in this portion of Building D, with that to the north displaying strong horizontal tooling, whilst that to the south is blackened.  As there is no clear joint between the two types, this appears to relate to the re-use of earlier stonework rather than two distinct constructional phases.

2.2.8 Building D was extended to the south by a north-south addition.  This contains a door to the north at ground floor-level, with two inserted windows to the south.  On the first floor is a square window with sandstone surround, and an inserted loading door.  All openings are blocked with coursed stonework.  A slight change in stonework from ground to first floor suggests this may have originally been single storey.

2.2.9 The third phase of Building D comprises a further north-south extension to the south.  The west elevation contains one window with sandstone lintel and sill.  A straight joint is visible between this extension and the former, although the lintel and sill of the window have been keyed into the earlier extension.  The window has later been blocked with coursed stonework.  There is one centrally-placed airbrick.  

2.2.10 There is a large segmental arched cart passage located to the north of the east elevation.  Although the arch itself has been re-set, the quoins appear to be original.  This is flanked to the south by a window and a door with large monolithic sandstone lintel and surround.  The window has been blocked with coursed stonework.  To the immediate south of this is a large square opening.  This has been inserted, and the north half subsequently blocked with coursed stonework.  The remainder of the elevation contains three windows at both ground- and first-floor level, and a further door, with sandstone surround, on the ground floor.  The windows all have projecting sandstone sills, with those at ground floor housed under sandstone lintels.  They have all been blocked with coursed stonework.

2.2.11 The north gable contains one blocked window at first-floor level.  The south gable end contains a single casement window on both the ground and first floor.  These have sandstone lintels and projecting sills and contain vertical iron bars.

Internal Description

2.2.12 Building D forms one, double-height open space, with whitewashed sandstone walls.  The floor is of concrete and the roof structure concealed behind a boarded ceiling.  The ground level within this room is lower than that in Building C.  There is a further opening giving access to the first floor of Building C; now infilled with concrete blocks.  The stub-ends of two east-west walls (relating to the three constructional phases visible on the external west wall) are evident, suggesting this room was originally divided into three.  The most northern phase is constructed from thicker walls with the room narrowing towards this end.  A doorway with modern metal door gives access to Building E to the south.

Building E

External Description

2.2.13 Building E comprises a single-storey range with slate roof, first evident on the 1906 OS map.  Aligned east-west, the building forms the southern wing of the U-shaped range.  The south elevation contains three windows with sandstone lintels, projecting sills and vertical iron bars, while to the east is a large, inserted sliding door, with an RSJ lintel.  The north elevation was partially obscured, but contains at least two casement windows similar to those to the south and two blocked doorways.

Internal Description

2.2.14 Building E forms one single space, accessed from the east and west.  It has concrete block walls, a concrete floor and boarded ceiling.

Building F

External Description

2.2.15 Attached to the southeast corner of building E, Building F also dates to between 1893 and 1906.  It forms a rectangular building of coursed sandstone with a pitched slate roof.  Both the east and west gable walls are featureless.  Access is provided from the north, through two timber and glazed sliding doors, which run the full length of this elevation.  The entire south elevation is concealed behind a concrete block and sandstone extension; present on the site by 1959.  

Internal Description

2.2.16 Building F comprises a single open internal space.  It has a concrete and metal floor, in which the rails for the sliding doors are situated.  The walls are rendered.  The roof structure has a king post truss roof with raking struts.  It presently contains freestanding modern machinery.

2.3 Umbrella Factory Buildings (G-P)

2.3.1 [image: image11.jpg]


Buildings H to P form the historic core of the umbrella factory (Plate 6).  They are of coursed sandstone block construction, with sandstone sills and lintels to all openings, unless otherwise stated.  Directly associated with the umbrella factory, Burkes House (Building G) was the private residence of works owner William Hoyland.

Building G

External Description

2.3.2 [image: image12.jpg]


Burkes House forms a large detached residence of coursed sandstone (Plate 7).  The main part of the house is of two storeys and three bays, with a hipped slate roof aligned east-west.  The central bay rises to three storeys and breaks forward to the north and south.  It has a pitched roof running north-south.  Two four-pot chimneys are situated along the east and west slopes of this roof.  All windows are modern uPVC replacements, with tooled sandstone lintels and projecting sills.

2.3.3 The south elevation contains a modern conservatory built up against the projecting central bay.  Above, one window is located at first-floor level, with a further narrow window within the gable end.  There is a simple moulded timber bargeboard located within the gable at attic level.  A narrow window is located on the ground floor within the west return of the central bay, with a blocked window in the east return.  The two outer bays contain a single window on the ground floor with another at first-floor level.  There is a simple stringcourse located immediately below the first-floor windows, which continues around all external elevations.

2.3.4 The east elevation contains a single window at ground-floor level, with a further window on the first floor.

2.3.5 The west bay of the north elevation has been extended to finish flush with the projecting central bay.  This bay contains a door to the west at ground-floor level, situated within a porch, and flanked by a window to its north.  Above, one window cuts through the stringcourse.  The central bay contains three irregular windows on the ground floor, with two narrow windows at first-floor level.  The western of these has been extended below the stringcourse.  The gable end contains one narrow window with a moulded timber bargeboard above.  The east return to the central bay contains a uPVC door with overlight, set beneath a tooled sandstone lintel.  The east bay is featureless.

2.3.6 At ground-floor level, the west elevation contains a tall window to the south, with a small one-storey projection to its immediate north.  There is a window cutting through the stringcourse to the north (situated within the later extension), with a further window at first-floor level to the south.

2.3.7 To the north of Burkes House is a one-storey stone-built toilet block with mono-pitch stone-slate roof.  This contains two doors on the south elevation, with a smaller door for a coal cupboard situated between them.  A sandstone wall extends between the toilet block and house to the west, containing a timber door.  To the west of this is a further one-storey outbuilding, with pitched slate roof and an end ridge chimney to the north.  This contains a door to the south and flanking window in the east elevation, with a further window in the south gable end.  The area to the north of Burkes House, and surrounding the outbuildings, forms a small yard with Yorkshire Stone flags.

Internal Description

2.3.8 The ground floor contains four rooms, all radiating from a central corridor.  This space has been much altered, with a lower ceiling inserted, possibly in the 1970s.  It is accessed externally from the northeast.  Opposite the door a flight of steps rise to the first floor.  At this point the lower ceiling cuts away, revealing the original ceiling height and cornice.  This is the only area within the corridor where any original decoration remains.  To the immediate south of the external door, a further door with modern architrave accesses the east room.  This contains a modern replacement fireplace and projecting stack in its west wall.  It has a deep moulded timber skirting board and cornice.  A decorative gas light ventilation rose survives.  Windows with modern architrave are set within the south and east walls.  

2.3.9 The second room is situated to the south of the corridor.  A large archway has been knocked through so that the room now continues into the conservatory.  There is a gothic-style stone fireplace and projecting stack in the west wall, flanked by a semi-circular arched recess to the south (correlating with the blocked window on the exterior). 

2.3.10 The kitchen is located in the southwest corner of the house.  It contains a large chimney hood in the east wall, flanked to the north by a door with moulded timber architrave giving access to the corridor and built-in cupboard above.  To the south of the chimney hood is a further built-in cupboard.  There is a deep recessed cupboard situated in the west wall, which corresponds with the single storey projection visible on the external west elevation.  A door to the west of the north elevation gives external access.

2.3.11 The fourth room is located to the north of the kitchen, within the later extension.  It comprises a small bathroom, with a door to the corridor in the east wall, and a window in the north.  It retains no original fittings. 

2.3.12 Within the corridor, a door opposite that to the bathroom provides access to steps down to the cellar.  The cellar contains a large stone-slab table and two lightwells.

2.3.13 A further four rooms radiate from a central landing space at first-floor level.  These comprise a small bathroom, located above that on the ground floor (and thus also within the later extension to the house), and three bedrooms.  Each bedroom retains its original moulded skirting board and cornice, alongside a cast iron fireplace and surround.  The fireplace is situated in the west wall of the east room, flanked to the south by an in-built cupboard, and a door to the north.  It is lit from the south and east.

2.3.14 Alongside its skirting and cornice, the southern room retains its moulded timber picture rail.  The fireplace is situated on the east wall, with a door to the north.  The final bedroom, located to the west, retains its fireplace within the west wall, flanked by a door to the north and inbuilt cupboard with sink to the south.  

2.3.15 A further flight of steps leads to the third storey.  There are two bedrooms at this level.  Both rooms have canted ceilings with exposed purlins, and a window within the gable end.  That to the north retains a small cast iron fireplace and surround, similar to those at first-floor level.  

2.3.16 Access into the toilet block was unavailable; however it was possible to inspect the interior of the other outbuilding.  This is presently used for storage, and contained a copper with hood within the northeast corner, and a further brick fireplace in the north wall.  The roof structure was concealed under a timber panel canted ceiling.

Building H

External Description

2.3.17 [image: image13.jpg]


Building H is formed from a number of different interrelated structures.  It broadly comprises two long, narrow north-south ranges (H1 to west and H2 to east), with a lean-to attached to the north (H3).  A further structure attaches to the east (H4).  

2.3.18 The south elevation is formed by the gable ends of H1 and H2 (Plate 8).  Both rest on a roughly coursed sandstone plinth.  H2 represents the earlier of the two, with a pitched slate roof.  It has three sixteen-pane casement windows, with a later extraction system attached to the central window.  H1 extends to the west, also with a pitched slate roof.  It contains a large inserted door with roller shutter to the west and a single twenty-pane casement with a tooled sandstone lintel to the east.  There is a further opening located higher in the gable, with a similar lintel dated 1935.  This has been blocked with bricks and cut by the later doorway.  There is a scar above the inserted door, indicating the former presence of a structure to the south. 

2.3.19 The west elevation to H1 contains a double door to the north with metal surround, and five three-pane casements to the south.  The ground level rises to the height of the plinth to the north.  To the north is a one-storey lean-to with deep mono-pitched asbestos roof (H3).  The upper courses of the south wall extend over the north wall of H1 and, therefore, indicate that H3 post-dates both H1 and H2.  It contains three irregularly placed casement windows in its west elevation.  The north elevation is heavily fenestrated, with five wide casement windows along its length.  The central portion has been extended in brick, and contains a further window opening.  

Internal Description
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2.3.20 The interior of building H forms a single open space, with concrete floors throughout (Plate 9).  The dividing wall between H1 and H2 has been removed; and the valley of the roof is now supported on an RSJ and cylindrical cast iron columns.  The roof structures to both H1 and H2 are of king post truss form, with raking struts; lath and plaster conceals the rafters.  Two concrete walls partition off a small room to the south of H2.

2.3.21 Most of the walls have an internal brick skin and contain considerable evidence for alteration.  Notably, the wall to building L, to the south, has been removed at ground-floor level, and is now supported on a RSJ.  A concrete block wall has been constructed as a replacement further to the south, thus extending the internal space in building H and reducing that in building L.  The first-floor of building L has not been altered, and the floorboards for this are visible from within building H.

2.3.22 H3 is supported on brick square-section piers and is divided into three rooms.  The dividing walls are of concrete block construction.  The western room is accessed through a modified doorway from H1.  This is flanked to the west by a further opening with associated cast iron machinery attached to the wall.  The west wall is of pier and panel construction.  The central room is open to H2 and was not fully accessible for health and safety reasons.  The eastern room is accessed through a fireproof door from H2.  An inserted RSJ and further door to the east also provides access between this room and H4 and another inserted RSJ provides access to building K to the east.

2.3.23 H4 is located between Buildings L, K, H2 and H3 and, thus has no exposed external walls.  It has a pitched roof, aligned north-south, with king post trusses and raking struts.  All walls are now supported on inserted RSJs.  H4 forms a much altered, yet heavily interconnected space.

Building I

External Description

2.3.24 Located to the southeast of H2, Building I forms a small structure with a pitched slate roof, aligned east-west.  It is accessed via an external sandstone ramp from the west.  The stonework of all elevations below the height of the ramp is less regular, relating to a plinth.  The south wall contains a row of square-sectioned corbels supporting a gutter.  The east wall contains a further door with a timber lintel and surround, accessed via a flight of external steps.

Internal Description

2.3.25 An internal brick skin is present on the east and west walls.  The floor is concrete and the roof structure concealed beneath a canted ceiling.  A door in the north wall provides access to Building H.

Building J

External Description
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Building J is located to at the north of the factory complex.  It forms an irregularly shaped structure with a pitched slate roof containing rooflights.  The west elevation is single-storey and contains three casement windows.  To the west is a sandstone platform, originally set slightly apart from the external wall.  The gap between the two was later covered over with concrete.  The platform contains a flight of steps to its south.  The southwest corner of Building J is chamfered to allow for the easy passage of vehicles.  The northeast corner of the building is cut-away, thus creating a higher elevation on the east side.  This elevation contains four short chimneys to the north (Plate 10).  

2.3.27 To the immediate south of Building J is a flat-roofed structure, containing a large opening in the west wall, and which provides access, via a porch-way, into Buildings J and K.

Internal Description

2.3.28 Internally, Building J forms a single open space, running into Building K to the south.  Four flues in the east wall correspond to the four chimneys visible externally, and are supported on cast iron bases.  The brickwork below displays evidence for heat damage.  It is likely that a range of small forges were located here, relating to the hardening stage of umbrella manufacture.  The roof has king post trusses with raking struts. 

Building K

External Description

2.3.29 Building K comprises a heavily altered structure (K1) with several further buildings attached to the east and south.  These include a lean-to to the east (K2), a one-storey structure to the southeast (K3), and two further structures to the south of this (K4 and K5). All structures were built between 1906 and 1931.

2.3.30 The most eastern portion forms a one-storey lean-to with a mono-pitch slate roof (K2).  Its north elevation contains a single casement window.  Four similar windows are located within the east elevation, with corbels for a gutter above.  To the south of this the lean-to rises by a further two courses and is angled at 45 degrees to the main east elevation, containing a recessed door.  

2.3.31 The lean-to attaches to an earlier sandstone structure to the west (K1).  A few courses of this survive above the roofline of K2.  These incorporate the sandstone sill of a former dormer window or loading door and a sandstone gable end with internal brick skin to the north with two corbels to support a gutter to the south.  The building is now covered by a lower, modern corrugated roof (visible in Plate 11).  The original structure is evident in the aerial photograph in Plate 2 and its alteration may relate to the fire in the 1980s.  
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To the south of the lean-to, a further structure projects to the east (K3).  This is a single-storey sandstone structure with hipped slate roof, aligned east-west.  It contains a single four-pane casement window with sandstone lintel and projecting sill in its north elevation.  The northeast corner is chamfered and both the north and east elevations contain gutter corbels.

2.3.33 K4 extends to the south of K3.  This structure has, again, been heavily altered.  It has a pitched slate roof aligned east-west.  Of four bays, the eastern bay is of two storeys, whilst the remainder is single storey.  The east elevation contains two doors to the ground floor.  That to the south accesses a phone-booth.  The elevation is rendered.  

2.3.34 A springer for an archway is situated in the south-eastern corner of K4.  Furthermore, a straight joint is visible in both the north and south elevations, indicating that the east elevation has been subject to extensive alteration (Plate 12).  This evidence is clarified through the use of the aerial photograph in Plate 2.  This shows a two-storey covered passageway with a pitched roof aligned north-south, with two east-west aligned pitched roofs built against it to the west (corresponding to the present K4).  The original wall of the passageway building appears to have been truncated to form the present gable for K4.  
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The south elevation of K4 is partially concealed behind K5; however, one window, with an angled sandstone lintel, is evident on the first floor.  Of the two visible western bays, the westernmost forms a one-bay extension, containing a single casement window; the other contains two casement windows with angled sandstone lintels.  Both contain corbels for a gutter and one course of bricks immediately beneath the roofline.

2.3.36 K5 is an irregular modern addition and of no architectural or historic interest.

Internal Description

2.3.37 The majority of Building K forms a single, large open space, with K2 forming two small offices to the east.  The northern office is accessed from within Building K, whilst that to the south is accessed externally.  Throughout Building K the floor is of concrete with a modern roof structure of steel posts, braces and principal rafters.  The space is principally lit from above by skylights.  Most walls have an internal brick skin, which in places has been replaced with concrete blocks.  

2.3.38 An inserted RSJ joins the interior of K4 to the open interior of K1 to the north, while an internal brick wall divides off K3 and the eastern half of K4.  K3 and the eastern half of K4 form three ground-floor rooms.  Two of these are offices while the third contains a modern internal stair giving access to a single first-floor room.  

Building L

External Description

2.3.39 [image: image18.jpg]


Of two storeys and five bays, Building L (Plate 13), together with Building M, enclose a small courtyard, and date to the late 19th century.  The east elevation contains a door to the north and four casement windows to each floor.  The door at first-floor level is accessed by an external flight of steps.  It has a pitched slate roof with an end ridge chimney to the south.

Internal Description

2.3.40 Internally, the ground floor forms a single room with a tiled floor.  A blocked flue is contained within both the north and south walls.  The first floor forms a further single room with internal brick skin.  The flues continue vertically up both the north and south walls at this level.  The tie beams are exposed beneath a plastered ceiling.  All windows have bullnose brick and splayed reveals.

Building M

External Description

2.3.41 Building M is of a contemporary date to Building L.  It is of two storeys and seven bays, with a pitched slate roof and two end ridge chimneys.  The north elevation contains a sliding door to the west, with the remains of an earlier sandstone segmental arch opening above.  This is flanked to the east by four casement windows and a door.  The first floor contains two doors, both accessed via external stairs, and five uPVC replacement windows.  The west gable is featureless, but retains the scar of a former mono-pitched lean-to with chimney, as well as evidence of burning.  

2.3.42 The southeast corner of Building M is cut away, with four windows situated within the angled wall.  The building rests here on a rough sandstone plinth.  Historic maps of the site (Figures 2 - 7) show the mill leat running to the immediate southeast of Building M.  Although now capped, this building, therefore, still respects the original line of the leat.  A modern corrugated steel structure is attached to the south and west.  

Internal Description

2.3.43 Internally, the walls have a brick skin throughout.  The ground floor comprises a single room with concrete floor.  There are two brick and sandstone flues in the west wall, with a further one in the east elevation.  The first floor has been heavily divided into a series of modern offices, radiating from a central east-west corridor.  There is a single room to either end of the floor, with four rooms located in between.  All have wooden floorboards.  The two flues in the west wall rise and join together, forming an inverted ‘V’ shape.

Building N

External Description

2.3.44 Building N forms the works offices and is a detached two-storey property to the north of the factory (Plate 14).  All windows are uPVC replacements.  Stone corbels supporting a gutter are located on all elevations.  The entrance is centrally located within the south elevation and is accessed via external concrete steps.  It is flanked to either side by a single window, with a further two smaller windows at first-floor level above.  The gable is topped by a spherical finial.
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The west elevation is of three bays.  The northern two bays each contain a single window.  A one-storey porch extends to the west from within the southern bay.  The southern return to this is canted and contains a small window with concrete sill.  A further window is situated in the west gable end, with a date stone reading 1918 above.  A timber door with overlight and timber architrave is located in the north return.  

2.3.46 The north elevation contains two windows on the ground floor, with a further two at first-floor level.  The east elevation is of three bays.  The south bay contains a small chimney, whilst that to the north is featureless.  The central bay contains three small windows at ground-floor level, and three further windows on the first floor.  It is capped by a small plain pediment with spherical finial.

Internal Description

2.3.47 The main (south) entrance provides access to a reception area with stairs to the first floor.  These are flanked to the east by a corridor; whilst to the west are an inserted glazed reception desk, toilet and kitchen.  Two rooms are accessed from the corridor.  Located in the southeast corner of the building, one room retains no original features.  The room to the northeast contains a large safe and toilet cubicle.  The toilet cubicle retains some of its original tiling, although the fittings have been removed.  There is a further small safe in the northeast corner and a modern replacement fireplace in the northwest.  A door in the west wall provides access to the northwest room.  This contains an art nouveau fireplace in the northeast corner.  A small window is evident above the door in the west wall, relating to the stair landing above.  A further door in the south wall leads to the reception desk, where another door returns to the corridor.  The two rooms to the north of the house retain some of their original moulded timber skirtings, doors, architraves and picture rails.

2.3.48 The stair leads to a small landing at first-floor level, with a turned wooden balustrade and newel post.  This area has been heavily re-arranged.  The staircase originally left ground floor from the back of the house (probably within what is now the northwest room).  This provided an added level of privacy and security as there was no direct access from the main entrance.  There are two rooms upstairs and a further storage space.  The rooms both have canted ceilings and retain some of their original moulded timber skirtings, doors and architraves.  

Building O

External Description
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2.3.49 Building O is a single storey, brick-built detached building plus attic and basement, located to the extreme east of the factory complex (Plate 15).  It has a pitched slate roof with single gable end chimney to the south.  The north elevation contains a wide sliding door at ground-floor level.  The remains of an earlier opening with timber lintel survive above with the gap between the two now glazed.  A single sixteen-pane casement window is located within the gable end.

2.3.50 A flight of stone steps runs down the east side of the building.  There are two twenty-pane casements on the ground-floor, flanked to the north by a double-door with timber lintel.  The scar of a mono-pitched lean-to is also visible to the north of this elevation.

2.3.51 Basement level is exposed to the south of this elevation, and is constructed from coursed stone of varying sizes.  There are two sixteen-pane windows at this level, with large squared stones forming the jambs, segmental arch brick lintels and later bullnose brick sills.  This stonework is relatively early in style, and may relate to an earlier building on this site.  

2.3.52 The south elevation rests on a rough sandstone plinth.  It contains a central door with window to either side at basement level and three irregular casement windows at ground-floor level, the widest of which may have at some time been a loading door.  These openings all have segmental arch brick lintels.  There is a single sixteen-pane casement window with re-used sandstone lintel at attic level in the gable end.  A sandstone gulley runs southwards from the west of the south elevation, with a later capping.

2.3.53 The west elevation is obscured by a later rendered concrete block structure.  Irregular in shape, it extends to the south of Building O.

Internal Description

2.3.54 The ground floor comprises one open room with timber floor.  A timber and iron circular saw and workbench is located centrally, aligned north south.  The saw was manufactured by T. Robinson & Son Limited in Rochdale, England.  Further wooden workbenches are located along the south wall with a trapdoor within the floor to the north.  A hole in the floor to the west reveals a stone base, probably for a steam engine, at basement level.  Access to basement level is provided by a second trapdoor to the east, and a flight of timber steps.  Another set of timber steps in the northeast corner rise to attic level, with surviving iron candle-holder at the base of these.

2.3.55 The attic space has a timber floor and is presently used for storage.  A pulley system with associated trapdoor is located at the top of the stairs.  The roof is of queen post truss construction with a single rooflight.

2.3.56 Although latterly used as a saw mill, this building originally formed the engine house for the umbrella factory.  The aerial photograph in Plate 2 shows a square-section chimney for a steam engine located beside the southeast corner of Building O.  A later photograph shows the same chimney, but now apparently surmounted by a cresting (Plate 3).  The boiler house was located to the southeast of the chimney, but no longer survives.  An associated reservoir was located to the north, supplying a constant supply of water for the boilers.
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Evidence for the use of this building as an engine house survives in situ at basement level (Plate 16), and a plan has been produced as record of it (Figure 9).  To the west is a stone base and pier, which supported the flywheel of a beam engine. This may be contemporary with an area of walling at the southern end of the east wall, which appears to be a survival from an earlier structure, implying that there are two phases of engine represented.  To the south of the stone pier is an electric motor, dating from the mid- to late 20th century.  This remains connected by a belt drive to a lineshaft and pulleys along the inside of the north wall.  A belt connected to a central pulley drove the circular saw on the ground floor.  Two large blocked openings are located in the west wall, with a further smaller square blocked opening between them.  These provided a means of transmitting power, via underground passages or alleys, to adjacent buildings, in particular Building P.  A gulley is located immediately to the east of the west wall.  
Building P

External Description
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First evident on the 1906 OS map, Building P is of two-storeys and six bays (Plate 17).  The slate roof is hipped to the south and contains an end ridge chimney to the north.  The west elevation contains six casement windows on the ground floor, with five on the first floor; a further window to the south having been converted to use as a loading door.  

2.3.59 A single door to the west of the south elevation has been widened to form a double-door.  It is flanked to the east by a single casement window, with the remains of a blocked door with timber lintel situated in between.  A second door is located at first-floor level to the west, accessed via an external stair, flanked by a single twenty-pane casement window to the east.  Another twenty-pane window is located within the gable above.

2.3.60 The east elevation is partially concealed behind a later one-storey brick and rendered addition of mid-20th century date.  

2.3.61 A door and flanking casement window are evident south of Building P.  There are six twenty-pane casements located at first-floor level.  The north elevation contains two casement windows at both ground- and first-floor level, with a further casement within the gable at attic level.

Internal Description

2.3.62 The ground floor forms a single open room with brick skins to all walls.  The floor is concrete and contains a narrow drainage gulley running north-south.  Some of the timber joists have been reinforced with steel to support the weight of heavy machinery, and a modern track for moving machinery is suspended from the ceiling.  There is evidence for over-head power transmission, including a blocked bearing box in the north wall and a series of associated circular openings in the floor above.  It is likely that power was transmitted to this building via an underground alley containing a horizontal lineshaft.  The belt drive from this powered a horizontal shaft suspended from the ground floor ceiling, from which power was taken through to the floor above.  However, much of the evidence for power transmission in this building has been lost due to the insertion of a modern concrete floor

2.3.63 A timber stair is situated on the north wall, alongside a single flue.  The first floor forms a single room, with narrow timber floorboards set diagonally.  The ground-floor flue continues to rise, with the addition of a further flue, in the north wall.  There is further evidence for over-head power transmission, with one hanging bracket (hanger), to support line shafting indicating the presence of a horizontal line shaft running north-south.  A timber stair on the south wall accesses the attic with queen post roof structure.
2.3.64 A large opening in the east wall at ground-floor level provides access to the one-storey addition.  This is open to the roof, with king post trusses supported on brick corbels.  There is a large concrete plinth and corbel located within the west wall. 
Interpretation

2.3.65 Eckland Bridge Works was established by Samuel Fox in 1866 as an umbrella factory.  Operations were taken over in 1875 by Hoyland and Hayward, with Hoyland becoming the sole proprietor in 1880.  Hoyland bought Burkes House as an onsite residence at this time.  The site developed throughout the remaining 19th and the 20th century, with a sizeable increase in the scale of production, and the conversion from water- to steam-power.  The site included the factory buildings to the south, with a range of farm buildings and Burkes House to the north.  A fire in the 1980s led to the loss of historic structures such as the main works building.  Subsequently, modern corrugated steel buildings were built, radically altering the historical integrity of, and level of mechanisation on, the site.  The large industrial waterwheel was also finally removed at this point.

2.3.66 The surviving historic fabric charts the progressive development of the site.  Buildings L, M and parts of K4 form the historic core of the present site, dating to the late 19th century and forming a small courtyard complex.  Burkes House and the north and west range of the U-shaped farm complex also date to this period.  No fabric from the earlier paper mill survives.  The other farm buildings and parts of building H were present by 1906.  The remainder of the historic structures on site were present by 1931.  However, the continued use of these buildings for increasingly mechanised umbrella manufacturing processes has led to extensive alteration, especially internally.  Similarly, the continued habitation of Burkes House has led to much modernisation and loss of historic fixtures and fittings.

2.3.67 Much evidence for how the various structures on site functioned as a unit has been lost due to the continued use of buildings on site.  It is, however, still evident that power was distributed to other buildings from the engine house (Building O, located to the east of the site) via underground rope alleys.  Lightweight lineshafting survives in Building P, suggesting lighter mechanised processes were undertaken here.  The only evidence for heated processes is found in Building J, probably relating to the hardening stage of umbrella manufacture.  

2.3.68 Eckland Bridge Works forms a much-altered example of a late-19th and early 20th century industrial works.  Its significance lies in its links with the early developments of umbrella manufacture, and with such local figures as Samuel Fox and William Hoyland.  However, the historic integrity of the site was compromised by the fire in the 1980s.  The architectural and structural interest of the buildings has also been substantially degraded by extensive levels of alteration resulting from their continued use.
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Plate 6: The Umbrella Works:


(Buildings H-P)
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Plate 5: W elevation of building D
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Plate 4: Building C, south elevation
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Plate 7: Burkes House (G)
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Plate 8: South elevation of H1 and H2
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Plate 10: East elevation of Building J
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Plate 9: Interior of Building H
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Plate 11: Modern roof inserted into K1
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Plate 12: Straight Joint on south elevation, building K4
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Plate 13: Building L
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Plate 14: Building N
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Plate 15: South elevation 


of Building O





�





Plate 16: Lineshafting at basement level in Building O
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Plate 17: Building P, west elevation
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Plate 1: Sluice for mill leat at 


junction with River Don
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